### THE EFFECT OF ASSETS QUALITY ON THE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF COMMERCIAL BANKS IN KENYA

## BY FESTUS KIMANZI NZOKA D61/72529/2014

# A RESEARCH PROJECT SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR THE AWARD OF DEGREE OF MASTER OF BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION, UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI

**NOVEMBER, 2015** 

#### **DECLARATION**

I, the undersigned, declare that this research is my own work and has never been
presented in any other university or college for a degree or any other award.
SignatureDate
Festus Kimanzi Nzoka
Testus Kiilializi ivzoka
D61/72529/2014
This research report has been submitted for examination with my approval as the
University Supervisor.
SignatureDate
Mr. James Ng'ang'a
Department of Finance and Accounting
University of Nairobi

#### **ACKNOWEDGEMENTS**

I foremost give thanks to God for his grace to complete this project work. I would like to acknowledge my family for their contributions and support in the process.

I wish to acknowledge all lecturers and facilitators of the school of business for the various roles each one of them played towards the successful completion of this project.

Special thanks go to my supervisor, Mr. James Ng'ang'a, for the extensive, useful and intellectual comments and directions towards the success of this work.

Special thanks go to my wife and parents for their inspirational advice and support during the Master of Business Administration, Finance course and to all my siblings, I say God bless you all for your prayers and support.

Thank you all and may God richly bless you.

#### **DEDICATION**

With special dedication and admiration, I dedicate this research to my wife Joan and son Jayden.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	ii
ACKNOWEDGEMENTS	iii
DEDICATION	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	ix
ABSTRACT	X
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background to the Study	1
1.1.1 Assets Quality	4
1.1.2 Financial Performance	5
1.1.3 Relationship between Assets Quality and Financial Performance	6
1.1.4 The Commercial Banks in Kenya	8
1.2 Research Problem	9
1.3 Objectives of the Study	11
1.4 Value of the Study	12
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	13
2.1 Introduction	13
2.2 Theoretical Literature Review	13
2.2.1 Modern Portfolio Theory	13

2.2.2 Capital Asset Pricing Model	15
2.2.3 Tobin Theory of Investment	16
2.3 Determinants of Bank Financial Performance	16
2.3.1 Capital Adequacy and its Effect on Financial Performance	17
2.3.2 Assets Quality and its Effect on Financial Performance	18
2.3.3 Liquidity Management and its Effect on Financial Performance	20
2.3.4 Management Efficiency and its Effect on Financial Performance	21
2.3.5 Diversification of Income and its Effect on Financial Performance	22
2.4 Empirical Literature Review	24
2.5 Summary of Literature Review	27
CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	28
3.1 Introduction	28
3.2 Research Design.	28
3.3 Population	28
3.4 Data Collection	29
3.5 Data Validity and Reliability	29
3.6 Data Analysis	29
CHAPTER FOUR: DATA ANALYSIS, RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	31
4.1 Introduction	31
4.2 Research Findings	31
4.2.1 Descriptive Analysis	31
4.2.2 Correlation Analysis of Asset Quality and Financial Performance of	
Commercial Banks	34

4.2.3 Regression of Asset Quality and Financial Performance	34
4.2.4 Discussion of Research Findings	37
CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	39
5.1 Introduction	39
5.2 Summary of Findings	39
5.3 Conclusion	41
5.4 Recommendations	42
5.4 Limitations of the Study	43
5.5 Suggestions for Future Research	43
REFERENCES	44
APPENDICES	52
Appendix I: List of Commercial Banks in Kenya	52
Appendix II: Average Return on Asset from 2010-2014	54
Appendix III: Yearly Aggregate Mean Scores of Asset Quality and Financial	
Performance factors	56
Appendix IV: Secondary Data Correlation Model	57

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1: Yearly Mean Scores of Financial Performance and Asset Quality Factors	32
Table 4.2: Aggregate Mean Scores of Financial performance and Asset Quality Factor	ors
Between 2010 to 2014	33
Table 4.3: Correlation Table on Financial Performance and Asset Quality Factors	34
Table 4.4: Asset Quality and Financial Performance Model Summary	35
Table 4.5: ANOVA <sup>a</sup>	35
Table 4.6: Coefficient and t-statistic Table	36

#### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CBK- Central Bank of Kenya

CRB- Credit Reference Bureau

IMF- International Monetary Fund

MFB- Microfinance Bank

MFC- Mortgage Finance Company

NPAs- Non-performing Asset(s)

SSA- Sub-Saharan Africa

#### **ABSTRACT**

The objective of this study was to determine the effects of assets quality on the financial performance of commercial Banks in Kenya, between the years 2010 to 2014. The Asset quality also referred to as loan quality has been defined as the overall risk attached to the various assets held by an individual or institution. It measures how well a financial institution predicts the credit risk of their assets and how well they manage them. On the other hand, financial performance is a measure of how well a firm can use assets from its primary mode of business and generate revenues. This term is also used as a general measure of a firm's overall financial health over a given period of time, and can be used to compare similar firms across the same industry or to compare industries or sectors in aggregation. The study adopted a descriptive design in its methodology and the researcher chose to study commercial banks due to availability of needed data and convenience. All the 43 commercial banks in Kenya were targeted for this study. Secondary data was obtained from annual Central bank of Kenya Banks supervision reports. SPSS version 20.0 was used for data analysis. The t-test with a 5% level of significance was used in the study and the correlation coefficient (r), coefficient of determination and analysis of variance (ANOVA) were calculated. The analysis showed that all the asset quality factors had a fairly statistical significant impact on financial performance. This was due to the fact that assets quality cannot solely determine the financial performance of commercial banks, unless other factors such as capital adequacy, management efficiency, earnings performance and liquidity are considered. The relationship between asset quality and financial performance was confirmed to be negative. Based on the findings, the study recommended that for high assets quality levels to be achieved, improved investment assets levels and the low rate of Non Performing Assets are to be realized through credit risk identification, measurement, monitoring and controlling. Further research on the factors influencing the asset quality of commercial bank in the country could add great value to the performance of local banks and academic literature.

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Background to the Study

A strong financial system is very important for a country to flourish. The economic progress of a nation and development of banking is invariably interrelated. The Banking sector is an indispensable financial service sector supporting development plans through channelizing funds for productive purpose, intermediating flow of funds from surplus to deficit units and supporting financial and economic policies of government. The importance of bank's stability in a developing economy is noteworthy as any distress affects the development plans (Rajaraman and Vasishtha, 2002) thereby the economic progress (Thiagarajan, et al, 2011). The stability of banking hence is a pre-requisite for economic development and resilience against financial crisis. Like any other business, success of banking is assessed based on financial performance / profitability and quality of asset it possesses (Ombaba, 2013).

Kenya has so far experienced three major banking crises (1986, 1993 and 1998) that led to the closing down of a total of 37 commercial banks (Kithinji and Waweru, 2007; Ngugi, 2001). Muriuki (1998), attributes the crises to the huge portfolio of non-performing assets (NPAs) that the banks had in their books. This impacted the country's banking sector, more so it's understanding of assets quality management and shaped the country's institutional response to the credit risk. This challenge led to the Central Bank of Kenya instituting a number of measures that were aimed at lowering the rate of loans default.

Asset quality also referred to as loan quality has been defined as the overall risk attached to the various assets held by an individual or institution. It is most commonly used by banks to determine how many of their assets are at financial risk and how much allowance for potential losses they must make. The most common assets requiring a strict determination of asset quality are loans, which can be non-performing assets if borrowers default on repayment obligations. Risk managers often assess the quality of assets by assigning a numerical ranking to each asset depending upon how much risk is involved (Ombaba, 2013).

Asset quality management is considered extremely important by the banking sector at home and abroad. The Basle Committee on Banking Supervision in 1997 issued an important document, "Core Principles for Effective Banking Supervision," which has been endorsed by the Central Bank governors of several countries, to present a comprehensive set of twenty-five core principles. Of these, one fourth are designed to address the relevant issues of bank asset quality (Tsai and Huang 1997), suggesting that asset quality is a general concern for the financial supervisory authorities in every country throughout the world.

Nagle (1991), indicated that the problems of asset quality may become the future time bomb for banks. In 1995, the "Standards for safety and soundness," which was established by the United States Federal Reserve Board, became effective, requiring United States financial institutions to set up asset quality monitoring systems for identifying possible emerging problems of bank asset quality, and demanding banks to regularly present the asset quality reports to the board of directors so as to evaluate the risks associated with asset quality deterioration.

Bank asset quality not only affects the financial and operating performance of the bank itself, but also further impinges on the soundness of the national financial system. Yin (1999) referred that the deterioration of asset quality from the ignorance of loan quality by banks is one of the main causes behind the Asian Financial Crisis.

In Kenya, as a move to ensure assets quality the Government has made significant changes over the last decade to the Banking Act (Cap 488) and Prudential Guidelines to strengthen arrangements in relation to bank licensing, corporate governance, capital adequacy, risk classification of assets and overall risk management (Thorsten et al, 2009).

Due to the strong emphasis of the asset quality, since 2001 when the ratio of Non Performing Assets to Gross Assets was at its highest of 22.6%, the financial institution have since been put under stringent watch and requirements to ensure that the ratios are maintained at the acceptable levels thereby resulting to the improved overall asset quality of the loan book and as well as the profitability levels (Oloo, 2013).

However, in the last 10 years the commercial banks in Kenya have continued to report excellent increasingly financial performance despite the increasing levels in the non-performing assets which results to deterioration of the quality of their assets (loans and advances). This trend is however contrary to the expected negative correlation. There has been little empirical research on this issue, particularly with respect to the relationship between the assets quality and financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya; thus forming basis for the subject of this study.

#### 1.1.1 Assets Quality

Ombaba (2013), defined asset quality also referred to as loan quality as the overall risk attached to the various assets held by an individual or institution. This term is commonly used by banks to determine how many of their assets are at financial risk and how much allowance for potential losses they must make. The most common bank assets requiring a strict determination of asset quality are loans & advances. Increasing loan quality will improve the return of bank loans and reduce the costs of failure, but at the same time it will be attained at a cost that requires banks' attention to manage (Khalid, 2012).

A major threat to banking sector is prevalence of Non-Performing Assets (NPAs). NPA represents bad loans, the borrowers of which failed to satisfy their repayment obligations. Michael et al (2006), emphasized that NPA in loan portfolio affect operational efficiency which in turn affects profitability, liquidity and solvency position of banks (Ombaba, 2013).

Assets quality is a strong determinant of financial institution performance because it influences the interest incomes while and the same time reduces the cost burden of bad debts management as per the law requirements. The banks are required to set aside cash, which is deductible as an expense, to ensure they are able to absorb any losses that it may incur from loan defaults. The high the NPA ratio to the gross / net assets book the low the asset quality and vice versa and therefore it means that the trade-off between assets quality and financial performance is expected to be negative (Ombaba, 2013).

#### 1.1.2 Financial Performance

Financial performance analysis of commercial banks has been of great interest to academic research since the Great Depression Intern in the 1940's. In the last two decades studies have shown that commercial banks in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) are more profitable than the rest of the world with an average Return on Assets (ROA) of 2 percent (Flamini et al., 2009). One of the major reasons behind high return in the region was investment in risky ventures. The other possible reason for the high profitability in commercial banking business in SSA is the existence of huge gap between the demand for bank service and the supply thereof. That means, in SSA the number of banks are few compared to the demand for the services; as a result there is less competition and banks charge high interest rates. This is especially true in East Africa where the few government owned banks take the lion's share of the market. The performance of commercial banks can be affected by internal and external factors (Al-Tamimi, 2010; Aburime, 2005).

Ngigi (2015) indicated that financial performance of Kenyan banks has continued to take hit from increased provisioning for bad loans as Central Bank of Kenya (CBK) heightens its scrutiny on their books. Even though CBK had previously encouraged restructuring of loans by banks to keep their risk low; their change of tack in a letter of intent to International Monetary Fund (IMF) on the heightened regulatory scrutiny could cause Kenyan banks to increase their loan loss provision expense, which in turn would lower profitability.

The financial performance of commercial banks in the Kenya has improved tremendously over the last ten years, as only two banks have been put under CBK statutory management during this period compared to 37 bank-failures between 1986 and 1998 (Mwega, 2009).

According to the Central Bank of Kenya (2014), the gross non-performing Assets (NPAs) increased by 32.4 percent from Kshs 81.8 billion in December 2013 to Kshs 109.9 billion in December 2014. Similarly, the ratio of gross NPAs to gross assets increased from 5.2 percent in December 2013 to 5.6 percent in December 2014 leading to assets quality deterioration respectively. This was majorly attributed to the spill-over effects of high lending interest rates in 2012 and challenges in the business environment contributed to the increase in NPAs. However, commercial banks continue to deploy enhanced appraisal standards to mitigate credit risk.

Similarly, the commercial banks registered Kshs 141.1 billion pre-tax profits during the period ending December 31, 2014, which was an increase of 12.2 percent from Kshs 125.8 billion for the period ending December 2013. Total income for the period stood at Kshs 418.7 billion, a growth of 15.6 percent compared with Kshs 362.2 billion registered at the end of December 2013. The increase in income was largely attributed to increase in interest on advances, which rose by Kshs. 35.8 billion occasioned by the growth in loans and advances in 2014 (CBK, 2014).

#### 1.1.3 Relationship between Assets Quality and Financial Performance

Zimmerman (1996) showed theoretically how the management decisions, especially regarding loan portfolio concentration, were an important contributing factor in financial

institutions performance. He attributed good financial institution performance to quality management and in which the management quality was assessed in terms of senior officer's awareness and control of the bank's policies and performance.

Khalid (2012) examined the relationship between asset quality and operating performance of Indian private commercial banking industry. The analytical model showed that when a bank's asset quality becomes worse, it takes more resources for a bank to conduct non- value-added credit receiving activities, which leads to poor performance. Using actual data of sample banks from 2006-07 to 2010-11, the banks' operating efficiency scores were obtained through regression which showed that asset quality and profitability were negatively related. Also explained that due to the large number of banks in India which resulted in dropping profits level, rising risks appetite and assets quality deterioration caused by pernicious competition, it led to bank runs. Not only does banks asset quality affect its financial condition and operating results, but also the soundness of the entire banking system.

Yin (1999) pointed out that one of the primary reasons for the Asian financial crisis was asset quality deterioration originating from a huge neglect towards credit-giving criterion. Tsai (1999) indicated that, according to Standard and Poor's latest survey on the banking system of 61 countries all over the world, Taiwan's banking system was fragile and that the more fragile a country's banking system is, the more it needs to pay attention to asset quality management in order to ensure the sound development of the banking industry.

#### 1.1.4 The Commercial Banks in Kenya

The Kenyan financial sector is majorly dominated more by commercial banks than capital markets, as the capital market are still considered narrow and shallow (Ngugi et al, 2006). Bank assets as a percentage of total assets in the financial sector are about 57 percent. The vital role played by commercial banks in Kenya in financing economic development brings to the fore the need to study the assets quality of commercial banks. The banking environment in Kenya has, for the past decade, undergone many regulatory and financial reforms. These reforms have brought about many structural changes in the sector and have also encouraged foreign banks to enter and expand their operations in the country (Kamau, 2009). Commercial banks dominate the financial sector in Kenya and as such the process of financial intermediation in the country depends heavily on commercial banks (Kamau, 2009).

According to the Central Bank of Kenya (2013), there were 43 registered commercial banks and one mortgage finance company as at December 2013. These Commercial Banks were further classified into three different classes depending on the market share by net assets, advances, customer deposits and pre-tax profits by Central Bank of Kenya. Large banks (tier I banks) which had asset size of over 15 billion shillings, medium banks (tier II banks) which had more than 5 billion shillings while small banks (tier III banks) had asset size of less than 5 billion shillings. Six banks were classified as tier I banks, fifteen as tier II banks while twenty three were tier III banks (CBK, 2013). Only nine commercial banks were listed in the Nairobi Stock Exchange (Barclays Bank, CFC Stanbic Holdings, Diamond Trust Bank, Equity Bank, Kenya Commercial Bank, National Bank of Kenya, NIC Bank, Standard Chartered Bank and The Co-operative Bank of Kenya).

#### 1.2 Research Problem

Kenya's experience with the financial reform process shows a widening growth in the non-performing assets which has been a hindrance to the development of financial sector thus negatively contributing towards the growth of the Kenyan economy. The commercial banks management responsibility of closely monitoring the assets quality has proven to be quite tasking owing to theoretical foundations on the impact that assets quality has on the financial performance of the commercial banks. Thus, there is no doubt that these two variables are interrelated and hence the need to establish the nature and significance of relationship.

Fiscal policies by the Central Bank have done much to stabilize the market, but at times some interventions lead to unforeseen developments in the banking sector. For instance, the annual growth in private sector credit appeared to stagnate at 20.47 per cent in January 2014 compared to 20.08 per cent in December 2013 (FSD Kenya, 2014). According to the Central Bank of Kenya (2014) Supervision Report, the level of non-performing loans have been increasing steadily from Kshs.56 billion in 1997, to Kshs. 83 billion in 1998 to Kshs. 97 billion in 1999 & latest standing at Kshs 109.9 billion in 2014. This high level of non-performing loans continues to be an issue of major supervisory concern in Kenya. It is accepted that the low quantity or the high ratios of non-performing assets (NPAs) to gross assets is often associated with bank failures and financial crises in both developing and developed countries (Caprio and Klingebiel, 2002).

A number of studies have been undertaken both locally and internationally on the topic of assets quality. Stieglitz and Weiss (1981) pointed out that one major factor that affect the assets quality of financial institution is high interest rates charged as a compensation of taking higher risks resulting to adverse selection effects. Even though the banks have tightened monitoring of the behavior of borrowers, information is obtained at a cost and also, not perfect. This implies that the rational profit maximizing banks will practice credit rationing, which defeats the assumption generally made in financial liberalization literature, that interest rate liberalization eliminates credit rationing.

Demirguc-Kunt (1989) and Barr and Siems (1994) have showed that asset quality is a statistically significant predictor of insolvency for the cause of bank failures. Failing banking institutions always have a high level of non-performing loans prior to failure. This is in line with the research but it did not provide details of how performance was affected prior to the insolvency.

Adeolu, (2014) who carried out a study on asset quality and bank performance on commercial banks in Nigeria and with the use of the Pearson correlation and regression tool of the SPSS for data analysis and concluded that that asset quality had a statistically strong positive relationship and influence on bank performance which is contrary to Achou and Tenguh (2008), who established that non-performing loans (NPL) has an inverse relationship with banks' profitability while Khalid (2012) who examined the relationship between asset quality and operating performance of Indian private commercial banking industry concluded that asset quality and profitability are negatively correlated and Yin (1999) who pointed out that one of the primary reasons for the Asian financial crisis was asset quality deterioration originating from a huge neglect towards

credit-giving criterion. Therefore due to geographical gap and the contradicting findings by the researchers, it would be necessary to validate the actual position with a case study of commercial banks in Kenya.

Commercial banks in Kenya have continued to report increasing financial performance represented by profitability levels, despite deteriorating quality of the assets or increasing ratio of gross nonperforming assets to gross loans levels occasioned by the growth in loans and advances (assets). These results represent contrary expected established perceptions of negative correlation between the assets quality and financial performance; therefore their relationship thereof is worth being studied.

Even though most bank practitioners realize the great relevance of asset quality on financial performance, the literature of academic research on this subject using actual operating data is found to be limited. The purpose of this study is to apply a model analysis and actual operating data of banks in order to examine the relevance of Kenyan bank asset quality to operating financial performance.

#### 1.3 Objectives of the Study

The main objective of the study is to determine the effect of assets quality on financial performance of the commercial banks in Kenya.

#### 1.4 Value of the Study

The study is important to the government in determination and establishment of a stronger regulatory and legal framework for the Banking industry in Kenya. The study is useful to the government in policymaking regarding the commercial banks assets quality management which will result to further protecting the depositors' funds while enhancing the commercial banks financial performance and stability.

The study is also significant to the management of commercial banks in Kenya. The findings of the study will enable the bank managers formulate strategies to enhance better management of their loans / assets portfolio in line with their growth strategies thereby maintaining high quality of their assets and realize their firm's maximization of wealth goals.

The study will contribute to the body of knowledge in the area of commercial banks assets quality management. It will reconcile theory to reality while its findings will be used for further studies in the field in future. This will benefit the scholars and researchers in the field of credit and finance.

#### CHAPTER TWO

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Introduction

This chapter highlights the literature relating to the research topic. This section deals with the review of theories relating to asset quality and financial performance; general literature review; review of empirical studies and finally gave a conclusion from the literature review indicating the gaps the research is addressing and the original contribution it will make to the field in general.

#### 2.2 Theoretical Literature Review

#### 2.2.1 Modern Portfolio Theory

Modern portfolio theory (MPT) or portfolio theory was introduced by Harry Markowitz with his paper "Portfolio Selection" which appeared in the 1952 Journal of Finance. This theory expounded on how risk-averse investors could construct portfolios to optimize or maximize expected return based on a given level of market risk, emphasizing that risk is an inherent part of higher reward. Thus an investor will benefit from diversification through a reduction in the riskiness of the portfolio while maximizing returns thereof. He further stated that only "unsystematic risk" which is specific to individual stocks could be diversified away as the number of stocks in the portfolio increases (Witt and Dobbins, 1979)

Csongor and Curtis, (2005) observed that using the above theory, banks have applied it in diversifying their loan portfolio so as to minimize the unsystematic credit risk which can be interpreted as risk of credit takers defaulting in a specific industry or geographic region simultaneously. The risk of a sudden decline in an industry or geographic region cannot be ignored, since history has proved that it is likely that at some point shocks may arise without giving enough time for the banks / companies to hedge or neutralize the position. Hence, it is in their interest to make sure that the concentration of portfolio is not too high (across industries, geographical regions or even individual firms).

According to the Portfolio balance model of asset diversification, the optimum holding of each asset in a wealth holder's portfolio is a function of policy decisions determined by a number of factors such as the vector of rates of return on all assets held in the portfolio, a vector of risks associated with the ownership of each financial assets and the size of the portfolio. It implies portfolio diversification and the desired portfolio composition of commercial banks are as a result of decisions taken by the bank management. Further, the ability to obtain maximum profits depends on the feasible set of assets which results to high assets quality desired by the management and the unit costs of monitoring each component of assets which delivers the targeted performance (Nzongang and Atemnkeng, 2006).

This theory, however, has a shortcoming; it cannot allow both more and less risk averse investors to find their optimal portfolio, a problem surmounted by the capital asset pricing model (CAPM) (Sharpe, 1964).

#### 2.2.2 Capital Asset Pricing Model

The CAPM, associated with Sharpe (1964), Lintner (1965) and Black (1972) explains the risk of a particular asset or portfolio using the excess return on the market portfolio (Black, 1971). The model suggests that investors should hold diversified portfolios, and predicts that investors will hold some fraction of the market portfolio. Furthermore, an important implication of the CAPM, also referred to as efficient markets hypothesis, is that investors lacking special investment knowledge would be well advised to buy and hold diversified portfolios (Black, 1971).

The CAPM shows that investors require high levels of expected returns to compensate them for high expected risk. However, it is now widely recognized that in the presence of informational asymmetries and contract enforcement problems, it is not necessarily true that the banking system will allocate resources to projects or firms with the highest returns. Empirical evidence based on mean-variance portfolio selection, simulation analysis, and out of sample portfolio performance suggests that correcting for estimation error, particularly in the means, can substantially improve investment performance (for example Jobson *et al*, 1979; Jobson and Korkie (1980, 1981); Jorion, 1985, 1991).

Despite attempts to verify or refute the CAPM, there is no consensus on its legitimacy. The modeling approach employed in this paper is therefore that of the portfolio theory. This paper therefore assumes that quality assets/ loans are one of the items in a bank's portfolio. A banks portfolio consists of both assets and liabilities. It is the bank manager's jobs to construct a portfolio to yield a high return at the same time reduce the risk (standard deviation) of such a portfolio.

#### 2.2.3 Tobin Theory of Investment

Tobin (1958) expanded on Markowitz's work by adding a risk-free asset to the analysis. This made it possible to leverage or deleverage portfolios on the efficient frontier; This lead to the notions of a super-efficient portfolio and the capital market line. Through leverage, portfolios on the capital market line are able to outperform portfolio on the efficient frontier. Tobin (1958) added the notion of leverage to portfolio theory by incorporating into the analysis an asset which pays a risk-free rate. By combining a risk-free asset with a portfolio on the efficient frontier, it is possible to construct portfolios whose risk-return profiles are superior to those of portfolios on the efficient frontier.

#### 2.3 Determinants of Bank Financial Performance

In accordance with the above theories and models, many studies have introduced some useful variables in the financial performance function of commercial banks to shed light on key factors that make a difference in bank financial performance. Such studies are not without ambiguity especially with regard to the measurement of the variables and the results reported thereafter. However there is general agreement that bank financial performance is a function of internal and external factors. Koch (1995) observed that the performance differences between banks indicate differences in management philosophy as well as differences in the market served.

Athanasoglou et al, (2006) concurred and argued that financial performance is a function of internal factors that are mainly influenced by a bank's management decisions and policy objectives such as the level of liquidity, provisioning policy, capital adequacy, expense management and bank size, and the external factors related to industrial structural factors such as ownership, market concentration and stock market development

and other macroeconomic factors. Though most of the studies on bank financial performance are based on developed countries especially the USA and Europe, a couple of studies focusing on developing countries have also used more or less the same variables to study the determinants of bank profitably (Flamini et al, 2009), (Sufian and Chong, 2009).

To identify the relevant determinants of commercial bank financial performance in Kenya, this study concentrated only on one among five of the bank-specific factors based on the CAMEL framework. CAMEL is a widely used framework for evaluating bank performance in relation to Asset Liability Management (ALM). CAMEL stands for capital adequacy, asset quality, management efficiency, earnings performance and liquidity. The system was developed by the US Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) for early identification of problems in banks "operations" (Uzhegova, 2010). Though some alternative bank performance evaluation models have been proposed, the CAMEL framework is the most widely used model and it is recommended by Basle Committee on Bank Supervision and IMF (Baral, 2005). The Central Bank of Kenya also

#### 2.3.1 Capital Adequacy and its Effect on Financial Performance

uses the same to evaluate the performance of commercial banks in Kenya.

Capital adequacy refers to the sufficiency of the amount of equity to absorb any shocks that the bank may experience (Kosmidou, 2009). The capital structure of banks is highly regulated. This is because capital plays a crucial role in reducing the number of bank failures and losses to depositors when a bank fails, as highly leveraged firms are likely to take excessive risk in order to maximize shareholder value at the expense of finance providers (Kamau, 2009).

Although there is general agreement that statutory capital requirements are necessary to reduce moral hazard, the debate is on how much capital is enough. Regulators would like to have higher minimum requirements to reduce cases of bank failures, whilst the financial institutions shareholders in contrast argue that it is expensive and difficult to obtain additional equity and higher requirements restrict their competitiveness (Koch, 1995). Beckmann (2007) argue that high capital leads to low profits since banks with a high capital ratio are risk-averse, they ignore potential (risky) investment opportunities and, as a result, investors demand a lower return on their capital in exchange for lower risk. However Gavila et al (2009) argues that, although capital is expensive in terms of expected return, highly capitalized banks face lower cost of bankruptcy, lower need for external funding especially in emerging economies where external borrowing is difficult. Thus well capitalized banks should be profitable than lowly capitalized banks. Gavila (2009) using a sample of 10 Tunisian banks from 1980 to 2000 and a panel linear regression model, reported a strong positive impact of capitalization to ROA. Sufian and Chong (2008) also reported the same results after examining the impact of capital to the performance of banks in Philippines from 1990 to 2005. The banking sector in Kenya provides an interesting case to examine the impact of capital because the minimum statutory requirement has been upgraded to Kshs 1 billion in 2012. However based on the ministry of Finance and 2015 budgetary provisions, this is set to be revised to Kshs 5 billion in the year 2018.

#### 2.3.2 Assets Quality and its Effect on Financial Performance

Credit risk is one of the factors that affect the health of an individual bank. The extent of the credit risk depends on the quality of assets held by an individual bank. The quality of assets held by a bank depends on exposure to specific risks, trends in non-performing loans, and the health and profitability of bank borrowers (Baral, 2005). Aburime (2008) asserts that the financial performance of a bank depends on its ability to foresee, avoid and monitor risks, possibly to cover losses brought about by risks arisen. Hence, in making decisions on the allocation of resources to asset deals, a bank must take into account the level of risk to the assets.

Poor asset quality and low levels of liquidity are the two major causes of bank failures. Poor asset quality led to many bank failures in Kenya in the early 1980s. During that period 37 banks collapsed following the banking crises of 1986-1989, 1993-1994 and 1998 (Mwega, 2009). According to Waweru and Kalani (2009) many of the financial institutions that collapse in 1986 failed due to non-performing loans (NPLs) and that most of the larger bank-failures, involved extensive insider lending, often to politicians.

The CBK measures asset quality by the ratio of net non-performing loans to gross loans. However Koch (1995) argues that a good measure of credit risk or asset quality is the ratio of loan loss reserve to gross loans because it captures the expectation of management with regard to the performance of loans. Hempel et al (1994) observed that banks with high loan growth often assume more risk as credit analysis and review procedures are less rigorous, however returns are high in such loans indicating a risk and return trade-off.

Kosmidou (2008) applied a linear regression model on Greece 23 commercial banks data for 1990 to 2002, using ROA and the ratio of loan loss reserve to gross loans to proxy profitability and asset quality respectively. The results showed a negative significant

impact of asset quality to bank profitability. This was in line with the theory that increased exposure to credit risk is normally associated with decreased firm profitability. Indicating that banks would improve profitability by improving screening and monitoring of credit risk.

#### 2.3.3 Liquidity Management and its Effect on Financial Performance

Another important decision that the managers of commercial banks take refers to the liquidity management and specifically to the measurement of their needs related to the process of deposits and loans. The importance of liquidity goes beyond the individual bank as a liquidity shortfall at an individual bank can have systemic repercussions (CBK, 2009). It is argued that when banks hold high liquidity, they do so at the opportunity cost of some investment, which could generate high returns (Kamau, 2009).

The trade-offs that generally exist between return and liquidity risk are demonstrated by observing that a shift from short term securities to long term securities or loans raises a bank's return but also increases its liquidity risks and the inverse is true. Thus a high liquidity ratio indicates a less risky and less profitable bank (Hempel et al, 1994). Thus management is faced with the dilemma of liquidity and profitability. Levine (1998) emphasized the adverse effect of increased liquidity for financial Institutions stating that, "although more liquid assets increase the ability to raise cash on short-notice, they also reduce management's ability to commit credibly to an investment strategy that protects investors" which, finally, can result in reduction of the "firm's capacity to raise external finance" in some cases (Uzhegova, 2010).

In Kenya the statutory minimum liquidity requirement is 20%. However, according to CBK Bank Supervision Annual Report (2009), the average liquidity ratio for the sector was 39.8% in 2009, 37.0 % in 2008, and way above the minimum requirements. This has baffled many financial analysts as to how could banks withhold such amount of cash in a credit needy economy such as Kenya (Kamau, 2009). The CBK attributes this to the banking industry's preference to invest in the less risky government securities, while Ndung'u and Ngugi (2000) as cited by Kamau (2009) attributes this liquidity problem to the restrictions placed on commercial banks at the discount window, coupled with thin interbank market, a high reserve requirement and preference of government securities. Thus given the above foregoing analysis, the given Kenyan banking sector provides an interesting case to assess the effects of liquidity on profitability.

#### 2.3.4 Management Efficiency and its Effect on Financial Performance

Poor management of expenditure is the main contributors to poor profitability (Sufian and Chong 2009). In the literature on bank performance, operational expense efficiency is usually used to assess managerial efficiency in banks. Mathuva (2009) observed that the Cost Income Ratio (CIR) of local banks is high when compared to other countries and thus there is need for local banks to reduce their operational costs to be competitive globally. Beck and Fuchs (2004) examined the various factors that contribute to high interests spread in Kenyan banks. Overheads were found to be one of the most important components of the high interests rate spreads. An analysis of the overheads showed that they were driven by staff wage costs which were comparatively higher than other banks in the SSA countries.

Although the relationship between expenditure and profits appears straightforward implying that higher expenses mean lower profits and the opposite, this may not always be the case. The reason is that higher amounts of expenses may be associated with higher volume of banking activities and therefore higher revenues. In relatively uncompetitive markets where banks enjoy market power, costs are passed on to customers; hence there would be a positive correlation between overheads costs and profitability (Flamini et al, 2009). Neceur (2003) found a positive and significant impact of overheads costs to profitability indicating that such cost are passed on to depositors and borrowers in terms of lower deposits rates/ or higher lending rates.

#### 2.3.5 Diversification of Income and its Effect on Financial Performance

Financial institutions in recent years have increasingly been generating income from "off-balance sheet" business and from fees and commissions income. Albertazzi and Gambacorta (2006) as cited by Uzhegova (2010) noted that the decline in interest margins, has forced banks to explore alternative sources of revenues, leading to diversification into trading activities, other services and non-traditional financial operations. The concept of revenue diversifications follows the concept of portfolio theory which states that individuals can reduce firm specific risk by diversifying their portfolios. However there is a long history of debates about the benefits and costs of diversification in banking literature. The proponents of activity diversification or product mix argue that diversification provides a stable and less volatile income, economies of scope and scale, and the ability to leverage managerial efficiency across products (Choi and Kotrozo, 2006).

Chiorazzo et al (2008) noted that as a result of activity diversification, the economies of scale and scope caused through the joint production of financial activities leads to increase in the efficiency of banking organizations. They further argued that product mix reduces total risks because income from non-interest activities is not correlated or at least perfectly correlated with income from fee based activities and as such diversification should stabilize operating income and give rise to a more stable stream of profits (Uzhegova, 2010).

The opposite argument to activity diversification is that it leads to increased agency costs, increased organizational complexity, and the potential for riskier behavior by bank managers. Mihail (2009) mentioned that activity diversification results in more complex organizations which "makes it more difficult for top management to monitor the behavior of the other divisions/branches. They further argued that the benefits of economies of scale/scope exist only to a point. The costs associated with a firm's increased complexity may overshadow the benefits of diversification. As such, the benefits of diversification and performance would resemble an inverted-U in which there would be an optimal level of diversification beyond which benefits would begin to decline and may ultimately become negative.

Using annual bank level data of all Philippines commercial banks Sufian and Chong (2008) found a positive relationship between total non-interest income divided by total assets, a proxy for income diversification and bank profitability.

Uzhegova (2010) using a HH index of interest income, commissions, fee income, trading income, non-interest income and other operating income found empirical support of the

idea that banks involved in diversification activities expect some benefits. While Kotrozo and Choi 2006, using a similar index found that activity diversification tends to reduce performance compared to banks more focused in their activities.

#### 2.4 Empirical Literature Review

Adeolu, (2014) carried out a study on asset quality and bank performance on commercial banks in Nigeria and with the use of the Pearson correlation and regression tool of the SPSS for data analysis and concluded that that asset quality had a statistically strong positive relationship and influence on bank performance. However, he also shows that there exists no relationship between bank loans and its profitability though this contradicts Khalid (2012) which reported that asset quality and profitability are negatively correlated in the banking industry.

Anjichi (2014) on the effects of assets and liabilities on the financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya over the period of 2004-2013 and using SPSS version 20.0 was used for data analysis which indicated that, the analysis all the CAMEL factors had a statistically significant impact on financial performance.

Garcia et al (2012) and Ponce (2010) measured the determinants of bank profitability in Spain; the results indicated that there is higher profit growth in banks having higher proportional of loans total assets, higher customer deposits, efficiency and lower credit risks. In this aspect they argued that higher profitability is to the bank which is capable of holding higher assets in terms of loans. Although there is additional costs of holding higher loan, the bank receive higher profit level, and where there is higher loan, liquidity

is the problem thus, banks need to strike to balance between the two, as in theory higher loans means higher profitability.

Athanasoglou et al (2008), Angbazo (1997), and De young and Rice (2004) found that there is positive relationship between quality of the assets as measured by decrease in doubtful assets, decrease in impairment losses decrease in non-performing loans and increase in receivable. In general the health balance sheet structure and effectiveness of credit administration tends to increase the profitability of the banks.

Carter, McNulty, and Verbrugge (2004) and Carter and McNulty (2005) suggest that monitoring may contribute positively to small bank financial performance because risk-adjusted loan yields, asset quality maintenance and spreads /margins are greater for small banks. They point out that one explanation for the positive relation between monitoring and performance is the ability of small banks to find economically valuable information about a firm's financial condition by monitoring the firm's demand deposit account.

Loan loss provision to total loans is an indicator of asset quality in commercial banks. This implies that an increase in non-performing loans leads to increase in loan loss provision and ultimately a negative impact on profitability and hence an increase in credit risk. Studies of Trujillo-Ponce (2012) on determinants of profitability for Spanish banks over the period of 1999-2009 indicated that, there was a direct and significant impact of loan loss provision ratio; a measure of loan / asset quality on bank profitability. In Greece, Athanasoglou et al., (2005), applied Generalized Method of Moments (GMM) technique to a panel of Greek banks over the period of 1985-2001. The results indicated that, increased exposure to credit risk reduced the profits of Greek banks. Staikouras and

Wood, (2004), using descriptive statistics; Matrix of correlation coefficients and multiple regression analysis, found that in European banks, Loans loss provisions to total loans had a significant negative impact on bank profitability. Ahmed et al., (2010), in their study found that loan loss provision has a significant positive relationship with non-performing loans. The results implied that an increase in non-performing loans led to increase in loan loss provision and ultimately a negative impact of profitability, hence an increase in credit risk.

According to Achou and Tenguh (2008), non-performing loans (NPL) has an inverse relationship with banks' profitability. Hence, they suggested that it is of crucial importance that banks practice prudent credit risk management and safeguarding the assets of the banks and protect the investors' interests. Similarly, Aboagye and Otieku (2010) contended that for banks to continue operations; they must make enough money through lending and fiduciary activities or services to cover their operational and financing costs, plough back retained earnings to finance future operations. This will enhance not only the survival but also their growth and profitability.

Streeter (2000) reported that asset quality management is considered one of banks major management problems in 2001 based on the self administered questionnaires served to the members of American Bankers Association Board which composed of one-third of bank officials from all U.S. banks, the result of the above survey sufficiently proves that asset quality management is a common issue for bankers in practice.

Bourke (1989) found that the changes in capital ratios and increase in assets have positive relationship with profitability, assuming that well capitalized banks have ability to grow

and found cheaper source of financing with better quality assets, in this aspect the better capitalize banks have the ability to absorb the loan loss and increase the profitability.

#### 2.5 Summary of Literature Review

The literature review has elaborated how banks have put in to use the Markowitz modern portfolio theory, Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) and Tobin Theory of Investment so as to alleviate the credit risk and maximizing their returns thereby linking the relationship between the banks quality of assets with performance. However, since assets quality cannot solely determine the performance of commercial banks, other factors which determine the profitability of commercial banks have been reviewed. Past studies on assets quality and financial performance have also been reviewed.

It is clear that from the global review, researchers have established mixed results on the effect and relationship between bank assets quality and financial performance on different periods in time. It is also clear from the empirical review that little if any has been done by the local studies to systematically establish the relationship between bank assets quality and the overall commercial banks performance in Kenya. This study therefore sought to systematically establish the relationship.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

#### RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

#### 3.1 Introduction

This chapter outlines the methods that were adopted by the study in order to obtain information on the relationship between assets quality and the financial performance in Kenyan commercial banks. It included the research design, population, data collection, data validity and reliability and data analysis.

#### 3.2 Research Design

Descriptive design was used in the study since it was the most appropriate method due to the fact that it allowed observing and describing the behavior of a subject without influencing it in any way. In this research, descriptive research was used to determine the statistical association between the relationship of assets quality and financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya.

#### 3.3 Population

The population of a research applies to the collection of all possible individuals, objects or measurements of interest (Mason et al, 1999). For the purpose of this research, the study population comprised of all the 43 commercial banks in Kenya as at 31/12/2014. Therefore, a census was adopted. The justification for this population was because of the fact that the information was readily accessible since it's a regulatory requirement for quarterly publication of financial statements by all commercial banks in Kenya.

#### 3.4 Data Collection

The study employed the use of secondary data. The data was collected from the Central Bank of Kenya, published financial statement of banks and Banking Survey from 2010-2014. The banking Survey is an annual publication that publishes annual financial statement of all banks in Kenya while the Central Bank of Kenya publishes and analyzes financial institutions performance data annually. The study covered five years period from the years 2010 to 2014.

#### 3.5 Data Validity and Reliability

To ensure validity and reliability of the data collected, only published data in the form of financial statements which is a requirement by law was used. The board of directors of each bank before publishing of any information, they have to attest to the validity and reliability and ensure that the statements show a true and fair view of the bank's financial position. The CBK supervisory reports were also used and since they are published by the regulator, the correctness of the data is assured.

#### 3.6 Data Analysis

The data was collected and analyzed using the computer software known as Statistical Package for Service Solution (SPSS) version 20.0. Descriptive, correlations and regression analysis was applied to the study and compared the effect of independent variable on the dependent variable. The dependent variable which is represented by the Financial Performance of the banks and denoted by Return on Assets (ROA) which is a measure of profitability and it indicates how efficient the bank's management uses its assets to generate earnings/ incomes which is calculated as annual earnings divided by

total average assets. On the other hand, in order to obtain the independent variable which was represented by the Assets quality; it was evaluated using the following ratios: Gross NPAs to Gross Advances, Total Investments Assets to Total Assets and Net NPAs to Total Assets.

The two tailed t-test was used since the sample size will be greater than 30 with a 5% statistic test of significance. The nature of the relationship between the two variables was defined by the computing correlation coefficient (r) and coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>). The study hypothesis was that Asset Quality had a negative relationship to Financial Performance of commercial banks in Kenya.

Financial Performance ROA =  $\alpha + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \beta_3 X_3 + e$ 

Where;

Y-denotes the dependent variable (Financial Performance) measured as Return on Assets  $\alpha$  - is the value of the intercept.

 $\beta$  - is the coefficient of the explanatory X variable.

e - is the error term assumed to have zero mean and independent across time period.

X<sub>1</sub> - Ratio of Gross NPAs to Gross Loans & Advances.

X2 - Ratio of Total Investments Assets to Total Assets.

X<sub>3</sub> - Ratio of Gross NPAs to Total Assets.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

#### DATA ANALYSIS, RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### 4.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the analysis of study findings of the investigation on the effect of asset quality on financial performance of commercial banks between the years 2010 to 2014. In the study, the variables adopted included; Return on Asset which was used as a measure of financial performance while ratios of Gross NPAs to Gross Advances, Total Investments Assets to Total Assets and Gross NPAs to Total Assets were adopted to measure the asset quality. This chapter analyses the variables involved in the study and estimates of the model presented in the previous chapter.

#### **4.2 Research Findings**

This section of the study is aimed at establishing the general trend of financial performance and the asset quality in the Kenyan banking sector from 2010 to 2014.

#### **4.2.1 Descriptive Analysis**

Table 4.10 reports the mean scores of ROA from 2010 to 2014. The mean score of ROA for the whole sector was 2.2% in 2010 and declined to 1.8% in 2014 showing a decrease of 0.4%. Despite the decrease in ROA, the financial performance of the commercial banks of Kenya during the period 2010 to 2014 confirmed the findings of the earlier studies which found that commercial banks in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) are more profitable than the rest of the world with an average Return on Assets (ROA) of 2 percent (Flamini et al., 2009). Therefore, this means the performance of the sector was

comparable to international standards. This is very important for the development of the country as banks play a very important role of financial intermediation.

**Table 4.1: Yearly Mean Scores of Financial Performance and Asset Quality Factors** 

		Gross NPA /	<b>Total Investment</b>	
	Return	Gross Loans &	Assets / Total	Gross NPA /
Year	on asset	Advances	Assets	<b>Total Assets</b>
2014	1.8471%	9.2320%	86.3866%	6.3051%
2013	2.1233%	7.9544%	87.2327%	5.1872%
2012	1.8180%	7.9481%	85.9843%	4.1832%
2011	2.0901%	8.0463%	84.8994%	4.3702%
2010	2.2068%	10.9407%	85.7065%	5.1630%

Source: Research Findings 2015

The ratio of Gross NPA to Gross Loans and advances remained high but showing a declining movement from 2010 but reversed in 2014 when it increased to 9.23%. The commercial banks main assets is formed by loans and advances in which as per the above ratio of total investments assets to total assets, it indicated high concentrations of above 85% thereby qualifying to be regarded as the main business for the commercial Banks.

Also the ratio of Gross NPA to total assets fluctuated between 4.1% and 6.3% indicating the level of loans and advances impairment as a result of nonpayment of facilities as scheduled leading to provisions which reduces the profitability levels.

Table 4.2: Aggregate Mean Scores of Financial Performance and Asset Quality Factors between 2010 to 2014

	Mean	Std. Deviation	N
Return on Assets (ROA)	2.02	2.168	215
Total Investment Assets / Total assets	86.04	8.049	215
Gross NPA / Gross Loans & advances	8.82	9.301	215
Gross NPA /Gross assets	5.04	6.835	215

Source: Research Findings 2015

The mean ratio of Return on assets 2.02% shows that the commercial Banks are pricing their products and services very well in order to effectively cover for their operational expenses which result to the impressive return on assets as compared to the other sectors in the economy & financial institutions world wide.

The mean ratio of the Gross NPA to Gross Loans & advances of 8.82% implies that more stringent credit risk management practices needs to be adopted before and after lending so as to reduce and maintain the ratios below 5.00% as per the international standards. Also the Gross NPA to total assets of 5.04% represent a high ratio compared to the international standards of retaining the levels within a level of 3%.

Further the mean ratio of Total Investment Assets to Total assets of 86.06% indicate that the commercial banks in Kenya invests majorly in loans and advances as well as short and long term government bonds compared to only 14% investments in fixed assets. For this reason, out of total investment assets, an average of 67% formed total loans and advances for the five year period analyzed thereby considered as the main asset for the commercial Banks financial statements.

## **4.2.2** Correlation Analysis of Asset Quality and Financial Performance of Commercial Banks

**Table 4.3: Correlation Table on Financial Performance and Asset Quality Factors** 

		Return on Assets	Gross NPA/ Gross Loans & advances	Total Investment Assets / Total Assets	Gross NPA / Total Assets
	Return on Assets	1.000			
Pearson	Gross NPA/ Gross Loans & advances	-0.363	1.000		
Correlation	Total Investment Assets /	0.000		1.000	
	Total Assets	0.392	-0.234	1.000	
	Gross NPA / Total Assets	-0.241	0.863	-0.027	1.000

Source: Research Findings 2015

Results on table 4.3 shows the correlations between asset quality factors and financial performance of commercial banks, while holding the correlation coefficient (r) value at between plus and minus one (-1.00 and +1.0). The study used the significance level of alpha = .05 (95%), Degrees of freedom (df) of 5, and two-tailed test.

#### 4.2.3 Regression of Asset Quality and Financial Performance

The R<sup>2</sup> is a measure of the goodness of fit of the asset quality factors variables in explaining the variations in bank financial performance. Based on the study, correlation coefficient (r) was 0.482 and the coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>) was 0.232 indicating that 23% of the financial performance of commercial banks can be predicted by the asset quality factors identified in the study. Since the correlation of 0.232 is positive it can be concluded that even though the correlation is statistically not very significant / strong, it

fairly influences the relationship between asset quality and financial performance of commercial banks. This is due to the fact that asset quality cannot singly influence the financial performance of commercial banks as discussed under literature review.

**Table 4.4 Asset Quality and Financial Performance Model Summary** 

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	.482ª	.232	.222	.01913

Source: Research Findings 2015

Table 4.5 ANOVA<sup>a</sup>

Mo	odel	Sum of Squares	Df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	.023	3	.008	21.296	.000 <sup>b</sup>
	Residual	.077	211	.000		
	Total	.101	214			

a. Dependent Variable: Return on Equity

Source: Research Findings 2015

b. Predictors: (Constant), Gross NPAs to Gross Advances, Total Investments Assets to Total Assets and Gross NPAs to Total Assets.

**Table 4.6 Coefficient and t-statistic Table** 

		0 11500	andardized efficients	Standardized Coefficients				onfidence al for b
Mo	del	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
1	(Constant)	046	.016		-2.913	.004	078	015
	Gross NPA/Gross Loans & advances	081	.031	346	-2.633	.009	141	020
	Total Investment Assets/Total Assets	.084	.018	.313	4.713	.000	.049	.120
	Gross NPA/Total assets	.021	.040	065	.510	.611	059	.100

a. Dependent Variable: Return on Assets (ROA)

Source: Research Findings 2015

The findings of the analysis are based on the significance level (alpha) of 0.05 (95%), degrees of freedom (df) of 5, and two-tailed test which indicated: Gross NPA / Gross Loans & advances ( $R^2$ =0.43; t= -2.633), Total Investment Assets/Total Assets ( $R^2$ =0.42; t=4.713) and Gross NPA/Total assets ( $R^2$ =0.24; t= 0.510)

The result show a positive coefficient of determination ( $R^2$ ) indicating that: return on asset is influenced by Gross NPA / Gross Loans & advances, Total Investment Assets/Total Assets and Gross NPA/Total assets. In addition, the computed t-values: Gross NPA / Gross Loans & advances (t=-2.633), Total Investment Assets/Total Assets (t=4.713) and Gross NPA/Total assets (t=0.510) were higher than the significance threshold of 1.96 (0.05).

This then indicate that there is some significant relationship between financial performance and Gross NPA / Gross Loans & advances, Total Investment Assets/Total Assets and Gross NPA/Total assets.

#### 4.2.4 Discussion of Research Findings

The results indicate that the ratio of Gross NPA / Gross Loans & advances is negatively related to return on asset (ROA), the financial performance measure as evidenced by the Pearson Correlation of -0.363, with coefficient of determination is 0.043 which indicates that the relationship may not be very strong. These results provide reasonable evidence to the consistent view that, the higher the asset quality levels, the better the financial performance. This means banks which fail to monitor their credit loans tend to be less profitable than those which pay particular attention to assets quality. This is in line with the theory that increased exposure to credit risk is normally associated with decreased bank profitability (Kosmidou, 2008). The beta of the ratio Gross NPA / Gross Loans & advances is -0.346 with a t-statistic of -2.633. The negative coefficients mean a 1% increase in Non Performing Assets or poor asset quality leads to a 0.346% decrease in financial performance. Therefore poor asset quality leads to lower financial performance to banks and the negative impact is significant at 5% test level.

The results further indicate that the ratio of Total Investment Assets to Total Assets is positively related to return on asset (ROA), the financial performance measure as evidenced by the Pearson Correlation of 0.392. The coefficient of correlation is 0.205 which indicates that the relationship may not be very strong. These results provide reasonable evidence to the consistent view that, the higher the total investment assets by banks, the better the financial performance. This supports the claim that banks with high

idle assets which are not under any investments, will realize low incomes thereby reducing financial performance.

The ratio of Total Investment Assets to Total Assets has a positive beta of 0.313 with a t-statistic of 4.713. This means high investment assets levels leads to an increase in financial performance to banks. This positive impact is significant at 5% test level. This means an increase in investment assets by 1% leads to an increase in financial performance by 0.313%.

The coefficient of correlation of -0.49, suggests a strong negative correlation between financial performance and Total Non Performing Assets to Total Assets ratio. The ratio also has a negative beta of -0.065 with a t-statistic of 0.510. This means poor asset quality ratio to total assets leads to lower financial performance to banks. This negative impact is significant at 5% test level.

The increase in Gross Non Performing Assets to Total Assets ratio by 1% leads to a decrease in financial performance by 0.065%. This impact is significant at least, at 5% test level.

Clearly the results indicated that all the assets quality factors had some significant impact on the financial performance of commercial banks during the period under study at least, at 5% test level. This means that asset quality contributes in the financial performance of commercial banks significantly beside other CAMEL factors discussed under the literature review.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

#### SUMMARY, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### 5.1 Introduction

This chapter introduces the summary of findings; conclusion and recommendations. It also highlights limitations of the study and finally gives suggestions for future research studies.

#### 5.2 Summary of Findings

Multiple regression analysis has shown that asset quality is not only related to the financial performance of banks, but they also influence the financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya fairly significantly with a correlation of 0.232. The analysis revealed that the ratio of Gross Non Performing Assets to Gross Loans & advances was the most robust and important factor influencing financial performance in the sector. The results showed that a 1% increase in poor asset quality could result in 0.346% decrease in financial performance. This was statistically significant at 5% (-2.633) confidence level. Khalid (2012) and Athanasoglou et al., (2005) also found the same results for India and Greece banks respectively. The descriptive analysis showed that total non performing assets were as high as 50% of total loans and advances of one of the commercial bank during the study period. It is therefore obvious that a lot needs to be done to reduce impact of nonperforming asset in the banking sector to improve financial performance. The fairly negative impact of nonperforming assets to the gross loans and advances

indicates that banks financial performance is partially influenced by the assets quality therefore close watch must be maintained at all times.

The analysis revealed that the ratio of Total Investment Assets to Total Assets was also an important factor influencing financial performance in banks. The results showed that a 1% increase in Total Investment Assets to Total Assets ratio could result in 0.313% increase in financial performance. This was statistically significant at 5% confidence level with a t-statistic of 4.713. This result means banks should focus on improving their investments assets levels in order to improve their financial performance. This will enable the banks to take full advantage of business opportunities and returns from the depositors' funds as they increase their financial performance in the process. The implication of this finding is that investing in loans & advances as well as short-term, less risky securities like government bonds leads to increased profitability.

Finally the effect of Gross Non Performing Assets to Total Assets ratio was -0.065 and a t-statistic of 0.510 statistically significant at 5% significance level, resulting to a Pearson Correlation of -0.241 indicating that high ratio of Gross Non Performing Assets to Total Assets negatively affects profitability. That is 1% increase in the Gross Non Performing Assets to Total Assets ratio (indicating deteriorating asset quality), could lead to 0.065% reduction in financial performance. These results are consistent with previous findings by Kosmidou (2008) and Flemini et al (2009). Thus banks need to improve their processes of screening credit customers and monitoring of credit risk. This is an important indicator because banks have had serious problem with non-performing loans in the past which led to collapse of many banks.

#### **5.3 Conclusion**

The main objective of this study was to determinate and evaluate the effects of asset quality on the financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya. Data from 2010 to 2014 of 43 commercial banks was analyzed using multiple linear regressions method. From the discussion of the findings above, it was concluded that the asset quality is one of the significant factor influencing the financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya. The analysis showed that all the asset quality factors had some level of statistical significance on financial performance. The negative relationship between asset quality and financial performance of commercial Banks in Kenya was confirmed through the analysis results obtained.

The ratio of Gross Non Performing assets to Gross Loans advances was the most robust and important factor in influencing financial performance. Most of financial institutions use the ratio to determine their 'Portfolio at Risk (PAR)'. A slight decrease in poor assets quality could lead to relative higher financial performance due to reduction in provisions by the financial institutions.

The ratio of total investment assets to total assets was also significant in influencing performance in that, it reduced the impact of Non Performing Assets to the financial performance since through increasing the varied investments levels would result to the diversification of risks and returns to a wider scope thereby maintaining a certain level of financial performance despite increase in Non Performing Assets.

Banks which had low Non Performing Assets ratio to Total Assets performed better than those with high levels Non Performing Assets to Total Assets in their portfolios. The banks with more

risky assets (Non Performing Assets) on their balance sheet, lowers their capital reserves implying greater credit risk exposure. The ability of management to identify, measure, monitor and control credit risk is also reflected by this ratio. The quality of assets is an important parameter to gauge the strength of the bank.

#### **5.4 Recommendations**

On the basis of the findings of the study the researcher recommends that superior financial performance in commercial banks can be achieved by improving their investment assets levels and improving assets quality by reducing the rate of nonperforming loans through credit risk identification, measurement, monitoring and controlling. Thus it can be concluded that financial performance in the Kenyan banking sector is largely driven by asset quality management.

For asset quality banks need to improve their processes of screening credit customers and monitoring of credit risk. This is an important indicator because banks have had serious problem with non-performing loans in the past which led to collapse of many banks; with recent one being Dubai Bank which had a ratio of Gross NPA to Gross Loans of 54.99% prior to its placement under statutory notice in July 2015.

On the other hand banks should focus on improving their investment assets levels in order to improve their financial performance. This will enable the banks, take full advantage of business opportunities as well as diversifying of their portfolio to variety of investments, thereby leveraging on the risk minimization and returns maximization in their activities.

#### 5.4 Limitations of the Study

Due to finance and time constraints, the research was limited to only commercial banks in Kenya. Therefore, to generalize the results for a larger group, the study should have involved a larger area of study, may be in other sectors of the economy or in other areas of the country. There was the challenge of accessing past bank record due to poor record keeping hence there was scant information that could be accessed in terms of published financial statements, however the researcher used other relevant documentation to collect the required information despite the fact that it took longer than anticipated. The research was also difficult to carry as the researcher had work and family commitments to attend to. This proved to be very destructing during the course of the research.

#### **5.5 Suggestions for Future Research**

The study sought to investigate how asset quality influences the financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya. However the variables used in the study were not exhaustive. Future research could incorporate macroeconomic variables such interest rates fluctuations, inflation and exchange rates. Also a study on the factors influencing the asset quality of commercial bank in the country could add great value to the performance of local banks and academic literature.

The scope of this research was limited to the evaluation of 43 commercial banks performance in Kenya. However, this may vary incase other financial institution like micro finances are included and more countries are considered so as to increase the population. Therefore, in furtherance of the research, one might want to consider this research as a reference to expand the scope and improve results of the research.

#### **REFERENCES**

- Aburime, U. (2005) *Determinants of Bank Profitability: Company-Level Evidence from Nigeria*. Nigeria: University of Nigeria, Enugu Campus.
- Aburime, U. (2008). Determinants of Bank Profitability: Company-Level Evidence from Nigeria.
- Adeolu M.A. (2014). Asset Quality and Bank Performance: A Study of Commercial Banks in Nigeria. Lagos State University.
- Ahmed, JU. (2010). An Empirical Estimation of Loan Recovery and Asset Quality of Commercial Banks; *The NEHU Journal*, 8 (1).
- Al-Tamimi, H., Hassan, A. (2010) Factors Influencing Performance of the UAE Islamic and Conventional National Banks. Department of Accounting, Finance and Economics, College of Business Administration, University of Sharjah.
- Angbazo, L. 1997. Commercial bank net interest margins, default risk, interest-rate risk, and Off-balance sheet banking, *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 21, 55-87.
- Anjichi D.A. (2014). Effects of Asset and Liability Management on the Financial Performance of Commercial Banks in Kenya. University of Nairobi.
- Athanasoglou, P.P., S.N. Brissimis, & M.D. Delis. (2008), Bank-specific, industry-specific and macroeconomic determinants of bank profitability, *Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions and Money*, 18, 121-136.
- Athansasoglou, P., Brissimis, S. & Delis, M. (2006). Bank-Specific, Industry-Specific and Macroeconomic Determinants of Bank Profitability. *Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions and Money* 7, 28–59.
- Baral, K. J. (2005). Health Check-up of Commercial Banks in the Framework of CAMEL: A Case Study of Joint Venture Banks in Nepal. *The Journal of Nepalese Business Studies* 8, 211-298.

- Baral, K. J. (2005). Health Check-up of Commercial Banks in the Framework of CAMEL: A Case Study of Joint Venture Banks in Nepal. *The Journal of Nepalese Business Studies* 8, 211-298.
- Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (1997) Risk Management Practices and Regulatory Capital: Cross-Sectional Comparison. Accessed from <a href="https://www.bis.org">www.bis.org</a> on 30/6/2015.
- Beck, T. & Fuchs, M. (2004). Structural Issues in the Kenyan Financial System: Improving Competition and Access. W/P 3363.
- Black, F. (1971). Implications of the random walk hypothesis for portfolio management. *Financial Analysts Journal* 27:16–22.
- Black, F. (1972): Capital market equilibrium with restricted borrowing. *Journal of Business* 45: 3–18.
- Bourke, P. (1989). Concentration and Other Determinants of Bank Profitability in Europe, North America and Australia, *Journal of Banking and Finance* 13, 65-79.
- C songor D. and Curtis D, (2005) "Banks loans portfolio diversification". (Master's and Bachelor's thesis), University of Gothenburg.
- Caprio, G. and Klingebiel, L.R., (2002) Bank regulation and Supervision: What works best? *Journal of Financial Intermediaries*, *13*, 205-248.
- Carter, D. & McNulty, J. E. (2005). Deregulation, technological change and the business lending performance of large and small banks. *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 29(5), 1113–1130.
- Carter, D., McNulty, J. E., & Verbrugge, J. A. (2004). Do small banks have an advantage in lending? An analysis of risk-adjusted loan yields at large and small banks. *Journal of Financial Services Research*, 25, 233–252.

- Central Bank of Kenya (2009). *Bank Supervision Annual Report 2009*. Central Bank of Kenya, Nairobi.
- Central Bank of Kenya, (2012) *Bank supervision annual report 2012*. Accessed from <a href="http://www.centralbank.go.ke/downloads/acts\_regulations/banking\_Act.pdf">http://www.centralbank.go.ke/downloads/acts\_regulations/banking\_Act.pdf</a>
  Accessed on 22/6/2015
- Central Bank of Kenya, (2013) *Bank supervision annual report 2013*. Accessed from http://www.centralbank.go.ke/downloads/acts\_regulations/banking\_Act.pdf
  Accessed on 03/7/2015
- Choi, S. & Kotrozo, J. (2006). *Diversification, Bank Risk and Performance: A Cross-country Comparison*. A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements of University of Kuala Lumpur for the Degree of Master of Science.
- Demirguc, K., Beck, T.A., and Levine, R. (1989) *Bank concentration and Fragility: Impact and Mechanics*, NBER Working Papers 11500, National Bureau of Economic Research Inc. http://www.nber.org/papers/w11500
- DeYoung, R. & Rice, T. (2004). Non-interest income and financial performance at US Commercial Banks. *Financial Review* 39(1): 101-127
- Financial Sector Deepening-Kenya (2014) Cost of collateral in Kenya; Opportunities for Reform. Nairobi. FSD Kenya.
- Flamini V., C. McDonald, and L. Schumacher (2009). The Determinants of Commercial Bank Profitability in Sub-Saharan Africa, *IMF Working Paper*, 09/15.
- Flamini, V., McDonald, C. & Schumacher, L. (2009). *The Determinants of Commercial Bank Profitability in Sub-Saharan Africa*. University of Colorado.
- Fofack, H., (2005). Nonperforming loans in Sub-Saharan Africa: causal analysis and macroeconomic implications. *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper* (3769).

- García-Herrero, A. Gavilá, S. and Santabárbara, D. (2009. What explains the low profitability of Chinese banks. *Journal of Banking and Finance* 33 (11), 2080-2092.
- Gavila, S. & Santabarbara, D. (2009). What Explains the low Profitability in Chinese Banks, W/P30.
- Hempel, G. H., Simonson, D. G. & Coleman, A.B. (1994). *Bank Management*. 4th edn. John Wiley & Sons. New York
- Irungu, P.N., (2013) The effect of interest rate spread on financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya. (Masters Dissertation), University of Nairobi, September.
- Jobson, J.D. & Korkie B. (1981): Putting Markowitz theory to work.' *Journal of Portfolio Management* 7:70–74.
- Jobson, J.D. and Korkie, B. (1980): 'Estimation for Markowitz efficient portfolios. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*75:544–554.
- Jobson, J.D., Korkie, B., Ratti, V. (1979): Improved estimation for Markowitz portfolios using James-Stein type estimators. 'Proceedings of the American Statistical Association, Business and Economics Statistics Section 41:279–284.
- Jorion, P. (1985): 'International portfolio diversification with estimation risk.' *Journal of Business* 58:259–278.
- Jorion, P. (1991). Bayesian and CAPM estimators of the means: Implications for portfolio selection. *Journal of Banking and Finance* 15:717–727.

- Kamau, A.W. (2009). Efficiency in the Banking Sector: An Empirical Investigation of Commercial Banks in Kenya. A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the Requirements of Nairobi University for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy. Nairobi: University of Nairobi.
- Khalid A., (2012). The impact of Asset Quality on Profitability of Private Banks in India: A Case Study of JK, ICICI, HDFC & YES Banks. *African Macroeconomic Review*, 2 (1).
- Kithinji, A & Waweru. N.M. (2007) Merger Restructuring and Financial Performance of Commercial banks in Kenya. *Economic, Management and Financial Markets Journal*, 2 (4), 9-39
- Koch, T.W. (1995). Bank Management. 3rd edition. The Dryden Press. London.
- Kosmidou, K., Pasiouras, F. & Floropoulos, J. (2004). Linking profits to asset-liability management of domestic and foreign Banks in the UK, *Applied Financial Economics* 20,315-358.
- Lintner, J. (1965): The valuation of risk assets and the selection of risky investments in Stock portfolios and capital budgets. *Review of Economics and Statistics* 47:13 47.
- Levine, R. (1998). The legal environment, banks, and long run economic growth. *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking*. 3(1), 91-100
- Mason R.P., Lawson N.M., Lawrence A.L., Leaner J.J., Lee J.G., Sheu G.R. (1999). Data collection and analysis. *Journal of research methods and techniques* 65:77–96.
- Mathuva, D. (2009). Capital Adequacy, Cost Income Ratio and the Performance of Commercial Banks: The Kenyan Scenario. *International journal of Applied Economics and Finance* 4(12), 82-93
- Michael, JN., Vasanthi, G., & Selvaraju, R. (2006). Effect of Non-Performing Assets on Operational Efficiency of Central-Cooperative Banks, *Indian Economic Panorama*, 16(3),33-39

- Mihail, I.C. (2009). Effects of Asset liability management in Banks: An Empirical study of Banks in Europe Fuculty of Finance, Cesta NaAmfiteature 21 June.
- Muriuki, K., (1998), Kenya Banks Record eleven percent Drop in Six-Month Profits,
  Available:
  <a href="http://www.nationaudio.com/News/EastAfrican/12082002/Business/Business13.">http://www.nationaudio.com/News/EastAfrican/12082002/Business/Business13.</a>
  <a href="http://www.nationaudio.com/News/EastAfrican/12082002/Business/Business13.">httml</a>
- Mwega, F.M. (2009). Global Financial Crisis: Kenya: Discussion series. Paper 7.
   Naceur, S. (2003). The Determinants of the Tunisian Banking Industry
   Profitability: Panel Evidence. University Of Nairobi
- Nagle R., 1991, *Bank Consolidation into the Twenty-first Century*," The Bankers Magazine, 18-24.
- Ngigi, G. (2015, March 9) Bad debts to hurt lenders' profits on tight Central Bank of Kenya scrutiny. *Business Daily*.
- Ngugi, N., Amanja, D. & Maana, L. (2006). *Capital Market, Financial Deepening and Economic growth in Kenya*. [Online].
- Ngugi, R.W., (2001). "An Empirical Analysis of Interest Rate Spread in Kenya". *African Economic Research Consortium, Research Paper 106*.
- Nzongang, T. & Atemnkeng, J. (2006). Market Structure and Profitability Performance in the Banking Industry of CFA countries: the Case of Commercial Banks in Cameroon.
- Oloo, O. (2001). The Banking Survey 2009, Think Business. Nairobi
- Oloo, O. (2013), Banking Survey 2013. Think Business Ltd, Nairobi
- Ombaba K.B Mwengei, (2013). Assessing the Factors Contributing to Non Performance Loans in Kenyan Banks, European Journal of Business and Management 5 (32), 2013

- Ponce T (2010) what determines the profitability of banks in spain. Visited at <a href="http://www.aeca.es/pub/on\_line/comunicaciones\_xvicongresoaeca/cd/75b.pdf">http://www.aeca.es/pub/on\_line/comunicaciones\_xvicongresoaeca/cd/75b.pdf</a>, retrieved on 23/06/2015
- Rajaraman, I. & Vasishtha, G. (2002). Non-Performing Loans of PSU Banks, Some Panel Results, *Economic and Political Weekly*, 37(5), 2-8.
- Sharpe, W.F. (1964): 'Capital asset prices: A theory of market equilibrium under conditions of risk.' *Journal of Finance* 19:425–442.
- Staikouras, C. & Wood, G. (2003). The determinants of bank profitability in Europe.

  Paper presented at the European Applied Business Research conference.
- Stiglitz, J. E. & Weiss, A. (1981). Credit Rationing in Markets with Imperfect Information. *American Economic Review*, 71, 393-410.
- Streeter W., 2000, Top Issues & Trends 2001, ABA Banking Journal, 33-38.
- Sufian, F. & Chong, R. R. (2009). Determinants of Bank Profitability in a Developing Economy: Empirical Evidence from Philippines. *Asian Academy of Management Journal of Accounting and Finance*. 9(5), 14-20.
- Swamy, V. (2015), Modelling Bank Asset Quality and Profitability: An Empirical Assessment. Economics Discussion Papers, No 2015-27, Kiel Institute for the World Economy
- Thiagarajan, S., Ayyappan, S. & Ramachandran, A. (2011). *Credit Risk Determinants of Public and Private Sector Banks in India*, European Journal of Economics, Finance and Administrative Sciences, Issue 34.
- Thorsten, B., Robert, C., Michael, F., Jared, G., Peter, G., John, R., and Mircea, T. (2009) *Banking Sector Stability, Efficiency, and Outreach in Kenya*, the World Bank

  Policy Research Working Paper 5442

- Tobin, J. (1958). Liquidity preference as behavior towards risk, *The Review of Economic Studies*, 25, 65-86
- Tregenna, F. (2009). The fat years: the structure and profitability of the US banking Sector in the pre-crisis period. *Camridge Journal of Economics*, 33(10), 609-630.
- Tsai, D. H., F. W. Huang, 1999, Management Quality and Bank Efficiency: Empirical evidence for Taiwanese Banks, Management Review, 18 (3): 35-55.
- Tsai, Y. C. (1999), "The Current Situations, Problems, and Countermeasures of Taiwan's Banking System", Sinopac Finance Quarterly Journal, 8, 77-102.
- Uzhegova, O. (2010). The Relative Importance of Bank-specific Factors for Bank Profitability in Developing Economies.
- Waweru, N. & Kalani, V. (2009). Commercial Banking Crises in Kenya: Causes and Remedies. *African Journal of accounting Economics, Finance and Banking Research*. 21(9), 9-27.
- Witt S.F and Dobbins R, (1979) The Markowitz Contribution to Port-folio Theory. *Managerial Finance*, 5 (1),3 17.
- Yin, N. P. 1999. Look at Taiwan's Banking Problems from Asia Financial Crisis, *Banking Finance.1*.
- Zimmerman, G. (1996). Factors influencing community bank performance in California. Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco 1: 26-41.

### **APPENDICES**

### APPENDIX I

## List of Commercial Banks in Kenya

1	ABC Bank (Kenya)
2	Bank of Africa
3	Bank of India
4	Bank of Baroda
5	Barclays Bank
6	CFCStanbic Bank
7	Chase Bank (Kenya)
8	Housing Finance
9	Citibank N.A.
10	Commercial Bank of Africa
11	Consolidated Bank of Kenya
12	Cooperative Bank of Kenya
13	Credit Bank
14	Development Bank of Kenya
15	Diamond Trust Bank
16	Dubai Bank Kenya
17	Eco Bank
18	Equatorial Commercial Bank
19	Equity Bank
20	Family Bank

21	Fidelity Bank
22	Fina Bank (Kenya)
23	First Community Bank
24	Giro Commercial Bank
25	Guardian Bank
26	Gulf African Bank
27	Habib Bank AG Zurich
28	Habib Bank
29	Imperial Bank Kenya
30	Investment & Mortgages Bank
31	Jamii Bora Bank
32	Kenya Commercial Bank
33	K-Rep Bank
34	Middle East Bank Kenya
35	National Bank of Kenya
36	National Industrial Credit Bank
37	Oriental Commercial Bank
38	Paramount Universal Bank
39	Prime Bank (Kenya)
40	Standard Chartered Bank
41	Trans National Bank Kenya
42	United Bank for Africa
43	Victoria Commercial Bank

# Average Return on Asset from 2010-2014

**APPENDIX II** 

#### Bank Name **Average Return on Asset** No. ABC Bank (Kenya) 1 2.38% Bank of Africa 2 1.02% Bank of India 3.06% Bank of Baroda 3.70% 5 Barclays Bank 4.77% 6 CFC Stanbic Bank 2.24% 7 Chase Bank (Kenya) 1.89% Housing Finance 8 1.65% Citibank N.A. 4.08% 10 Commercial Bank of Africa 2.49% 11 Consolidated Bank of Kenya 0.18% Cooperative Bank of Kenya 12 3.30% 13 Credit Bank 0.48% 14 Development Bank of Kenya 1.10% Diamond Trust Bank 15 3.23% Dubai Bank Kenya 16 0.05% 17 Eco Bank -1.04% Equatorial Commercial Bank 18 -1.02% 19 **Equity Bank** 5.53% 20 Family Bank 2.15%

21	Fidelity Bank	1.78%
22	Fina Bank (Kenya)	1.41%
23	First Community Bank	0.64%
24	Giro Commercial Bank	2.96%
25	Guardian Bank	1.50%
26	Gulf African Bank	1.42%
27	Habib Bank AG Zurich	3.38%
28	Habib Bank	2.52%
29	Imperial Bank Kenya	4.30%
30	Investment & Mortgages Bank	3.91%
31	Jamii Bora Bank	-0.74%
32	Kenya Commercial Bank	3.83%
33	K-Rep Bank	2.11%
34	Middle East Bank Kenya	1.75%
35	National Bank of Kenya	1.71%
36	National Industrial Credit Bank	3.08%
37	Oriental Commercial Bank	2.17%
38	Paramount Universal Bank	2.33%
39	Prime Bank (Kenya)	2.50%
40	Standard Chartered Bank	4.06%
41	Trans National Bank Kenya	2.21%
42	United Bank for Africa	-6.47%
43	Victoria Commercial Bank	3.14%

APPENDIX III

Yearly Aggregate Mean Scores of Asset Quality and Financial Performance factors

		Gross NPA / Gross Loans	Total Investment Assets / Total	Gross NPA / Total
Year	Return on asset	& Advances	Assets	Assets
2014	1.8471%	9.2320%	86.3866%	6.3051%
2013	2.1233%	7.9544%	87.2327%	5.1872%
2012	1.8180%	7.9481%	85.9843%	4.1832%
2011	2.0901%	8.0463%	84.8994%	4.3702%
2010	2.2068%	10.9407%	85.7065%	5.1630%

APPENDIX IV
Secondary Data Correlation Model

Model	R	$\mathbb{R}^2$	df	t	sig
Gross NPA/Gross Loans & advances	065	.043	5	-2.633	.009
Total Investment Assets/Total Assets	.064	.042	5	4.713	.000
Gross NPA/Total assets	.490	.240	5	.510	.611

Source: Research Findings 2015